### Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans in neural development and plasticity

### Nobuaki Maeda, Nobuna Fukazawa, Maki Ishii

Department of Developmental Neuroscience, Tokyo Metropolitan Institute for Neuroscience, Tokyo, Japan

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. CS proteoglycans and biosynthesis of CS
  - 3.1. Structure of CS proteoglycans
  - 3.2. Biosynthesis and structure of CS
- 4. Functional significance of structural variation of CS chains
  - 4.1. Structural change of CS chains during development of the brain
    - 4.2. CS binds with various proteins in a structure-dependent manner
    - 4.3. Structural variation of CS regulates the binding affinity of phosphacan for pleiotrophin
  - 4.4. Functions of oversulfated CS structures in proliferation of neural progenitor cells
  - 4.5. Function of oversulfated CS structures in neuronal migration
- 5. Signal transduction mechanism of PTPzeta
  - 5.1. Tyrosine phosphatases
  - 5.2. Signaling mechanism of PTPzeta
  - 5.3. PTPzeta and morphogenesis of Purkinje cells
  - 5.4. DNER as a substrate of PTPzeta
- 6. Neural plasticity and CS proteoglycans
  - 6.1. Perineuronal net and CS proteoglycans
  - 6.2. Perineuronal net and HNK-1 epitope
  - 6.3. CS proteoglycans and neural plasticity

7. Perspective

- 8. Acknowledgments
- 9. References

### 1. ABSTRACT

PTPzeta and lectican family members are major chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (CS-PGs) in the brain, which bind with many proteins via core protein and CS portions. Recent studies revealed that the oversulfated structures in CS constitute high affinity binding sites for various growth factors and axon guidance molecules, and play important roles in the proliferation of neural progenitor cells, neurite extension and neuronal migration. PTPzeta uses pleiotrophin as a ligand. The CS portion of PTPzeta constitutes a part of the pleiotrophin-binding site, and oversulfated D unit increases the binding affinity. Pleiotrophin-PTPzeta signaling regulates the morphogenesis of Purkinje cell by controlling the tyrosine phosphorylation of a Notch-related transmembrane protein, DNER. In the brain of adult animals, a subset of neurons are surrounded by CS-PG-rich extracellular matrix called perineuronal net, in which lecticans form complexes with hyaluronic acid and tenascin-R. CS-PGs in the perineuronal net regulate ocular dominance plasticity in the visual cortex by enhancing the uptake of Otx2 homeoprotein by parvalbuminpositive interneurons in a CS-dependent manner. These studies revealed unexpectedly complex mechanisms of CS-PG functions.

#### **2. INTRODUCTION**

Proteoglycans are composed of a core protein to which one or more sulfated glycosaminoglycan chains are covalently attached (1). Sulfated glycosaminoglycans are classified into chondroitin sulfate (CS)/dermatan sulfate, heparan sulfate (HS)/heparin and keratan sulfate (KS), and proteoglycans bearing CS, HS and KS chains are called CS proteoglycans, HS proteoglycans and KS proteoglycans, respectively. However, some HS proteoglycans such as syndecan family members are decorated with both HS and CS chains, and CS proteoglycans such as phosphacan and aggrecan are often modified also with KS chains. Among these proteoglycans, CS proteoglycans have attracted the attention of neuroscientists, because chondroitinase ABC, a bacterial enzyme which degrades CS, affects many aspects of the nervous system including development, plasticity and regeneration (2-5). CS proteoglycans are major components of the cell surface and extracellular matrix in the brain, and play important roles in cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions, and growth factor signaling (6-11). Both the core protein and saccharide moieties bind with various proteins such as growth factors, cell adhesion molecules and extracellular matrix components, and regulate their physiological functions. CS



**Figure 1.** Structural models of chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans. (A) Lectican family members (aggrecan, versican, neurocan and brevican) consist of an N-terminal G1 domain, which binds with hyaluronic acid, a chondroitin sulfate (CS) attachment region and a C-terminal G3 domain. The G1 domain contains an immunoglobulin (Ig)-like domain (Ig domain) and a hyaluronic acid (HA)-binding region. The G3 domain is composed of epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like domains, a C-type lectin-like domain and a complement regulatory protein (CRP)-like domain. (B) PTPzeta consists of an N-terminal carbonic anhydrase-like domain (CAH), a fibronectin type III-like domain (FN), a chondroitin sulfate attachment region, a transmembrane segment and two tyrosine phosphatase domains (D1 and D2). Alternative splicing generates two transmembrane forms (PTPzeta-A and -B) and two secreted forms (phosphacan and phosphacan short form). Keratan sulfate (KS), HNK-1, and Le<sup>X</sup> carbohydrates are attached to PTPzeta-A and phosphacan.

proteoglycans are also highly decorated with various *N*- and *O*-linked oligosaccharide chains. The structure of CS and oligosaccharide chains on CS proteoglycans changes dynamically during developmental processes, and such structural changes contribute to the regulation of many neural functions. In this review, we discuss the functional importance of saccharide chains of CS proteoglycans in neural development and plasticity.

## 3. CS PROTEOGLYCANS AND BIOSYNTHESIS OF CS

#### 3.1. Structure of CS proteoglycans

Figure 1 illustrates the major CS proteoglycans found in the nervous system. CS proteoglycans are largely grouped into secreted (Figure 1A) and transmembrane (Figure 1B) forms. Lectican (hyalectan) family members are secreted extracellular matrix CS proteoglycans that bind with hyaluronic acid (9,12) (Figure 1A). Aggrecan, versican, neurocan and brevican form this family, which are composed of a highly conserved N-terminal globular G1 domain, a poorly conserved glycosaminoglycan attachment region, and a conserved C-terminal G3 domain. The G1 domain contains an immunoglobulin-like domain and tandem repeats of a hyaluronic acid-binding domain. The glycosaminoglycan attachment region is decorated with CS chains and various N- and O-linked oligosaccharides. The G3 domain is composed of one or two epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like domains, C-type lectin-like domain, and a complement regulatory protein-like domain. While the G1 domain anchors lecticans to hyaluronic acid, the binding of which is stabilized by link proteins, the C-terminal G3 domains bind with extracellular matrix proteins such as tenascin-C and tenascin-R. Thus, lecticans, hyaluronic acid and extracellular matrix proteins form large complexes that play critical roles in the various aspects of neural development and plasticity (5,7,9,12). Alternative splicing generates variants of lecticans, modulating the interactions and assembly of the extracellular matrix (13).



**Figure 2.** Biosynthesis of chondroitin sulfate. Chondroitin sulfate is synthesized in the Golgi apparatus by sequential modifications after polymerization of the repeating disaccharide unit of GlcA and GalNAc (O unit). Many of the GalNAc residues are 4-*O*-sulfated by chondroitin 4-*O*-sulfotransferases (C4-STs) or 6-*O*-sulfated by chondroitin 6-*O*-sulfotransferases (C6-STs), leading to the generation of A and C units, respectively. A portion of disaccharide units have two or three sulfate residues, which are called oversulfated structures. A unit is further sulfated by GalNAc 4-sulfate 6-*O*-sulfotransferase (4,6-ST), generating E unit. C unit is sulfated by uronyl 2-*O*-sulfotransferase (UST), generating D unit. Some of the GlcA residues are converted to IdoA by chondroitin-glucuronate C5 epimerase (C5-EP), which leads to the generation of iA and iB units by subsequent sulfation by dermatan 4-*O*-sulfotransferase (D4-ST) and UST.

Phosphacan is a major secreted CS proteoglycan in the brain, which is not related to lecticans (Figure 1B). This proteoglycan is a splicing variant of the receptor-type protein tyrosine phosphatase zeta (PTPzeta/RPTPbeta) (14-18). PTPzeta is composed of an N-terminal carbonic anhydrase-like domain, a fibronectin type III-like domain, a CS attachment region, a transmembrane segment, and the two intracellular tyrosine phosphatase domains (D1 and D2). There are four splicing variants of this molecule: (a) the full-length form (PTPzeta-A), (b) the short form (PTPzeta-B), in which a large part of the CS attachment region is deleted, (c) phosphacan, which corresponds to the extracellular region of PTPzeta-A, and (d) phosphacan short form (Figure 1B). PTPzeta-A, PTPzeta-B and phosphacan are synthesized as CS proteoglycans, although PTPzeta-B is a part-time proteoglycan (19). Phosphacan short form seems not to have CS chains (18). PTPzeta-A and phosphacan are decorated with keratan sulfate, HNK-1 and Le<sup>X</sup> carbohydrates, but PTPzeta-B is not, suggesting that one of the function of alternative splicing is differential modification of the core proteins with carbohydrates (17,19-21). The extracellular domain of PTPzeta binds with various cell adhesion molecules (NrCAM, L1/Ng-CAM, contactin, N-CAM and TAG1), growth factors

(pleiotrophin, midkine, and FGF-2) and extracellular matrix molecules (amphoterin, tenascin-C and tenascin-R) (22-29). Many of these binding partners (tenascin, N-CAM, L1, TAG-1, pleiotrophin, FGF-2 and amphoterin) also interact with neurocan, raising the possibility that PTPzeta/phosphacan and neurocan competitively bind with these proteins in the brain (25,27,28). Among the two tyrosine phosphatase domains, only the D1 domain is catalytically active (14). Beside these CS proteoglycans, there exist several CS proteoglycans in the nervous system including neuroglycan C, NG2 proteoglycan, decorin and appican, which we will not discuss because of a lack of space (1).

### 3.2. Biosynthesis and structure of CS

CS chains are unbranched polysaccharides that consist of repeating disaccharide units of Nacetylgalactosamine (GalNAc) and glucuronic acid (GlcA) (30,31) (Figure 2). CS chains are attached to specific serine residues in the core protein through a linkage tetrasaccharide (GlcAbeta1-3galactose beta1-3galactose beta1-4xylose beta1-O-serine). Biosynthesis of CS begins with the addition of xylose to the serine residues in the core protein by xylosyl transferase, followed by the addition of two galactose residues



**Figure 3.** Structural change of chondroitin sulfate in the developing brain. (A-D) The developmental changes in the disaccharide composition of chondroitin sulfate from mouse cerebral cortex (A and B) and cerebellum (C and D) are shown (32,33). A and iA units and B and iB units were collectively quantified as A and B units, respectively. (E-J) Sagittal sections from P7 (E-G) and P20 (H-J) mouse brains were stained immunohistochemically with monoclonal antibodies against chondroitin sulfate: CS-56 (E and H), 2H6 (F and I) and MO-225 (G and J) (36). These monoclonal antibodies differentially stained cerebral cortex (Cx) and cerebellum (Ce).

and one GlcA by galactosyltransferase-I, galactosyltransferase-II and glucuronyltransferase I, respectively. Then, the repeating disaccharides (GlcAbeta1-3GalNAc) (O unit) are polymerized by chondroitin sulfate synthase complexes in the Golgi apparatus. The polymerized disaccharides are then heavily modified by C5 epimerization of GlcA and O-sulfation (30-33). Many of the GalNAc residues are 4-O-sulfated by chondroitin 4-O-sulfotransferases (C4-STs) or 6-O-sulfated by chondroitin 6-O-sulfotransferases (C6-STs). The resulting GlcAbeta1-3GalNAc(4S) and GlcAbeta1-3GalNAc(6S) are called A and C units, respectively. Some of the GlcA residues are converted to iduronic acid (IdoA) by chondroitinglucuronate C5-epimerase (C5-EP), leading to the generation of iO unit (IdoAalpha1-3GalNAc). The GalNAc residues of iO units are 4-O-sulfated by dermatan 4-O-sulfotransferase (D4-ST), generating iA units (IdoAalpha1-3GalNAc(4S)). The highly iduronated CS chains are often called dermatan sulfate (DS). Monosulfated A and C units are the major components of CS chains, and DS chains are mainly composed of iA units. However, CS and DS chains contain significant amounts of disulfated disaccharides, which are called oversulfated structures (D, E and iB units). D units (GlcA(2S)beta1-3GalNAc(6S))

are generated from C units by uronyl 2-O-sulfotransferase (UST), and E units (GlcAbeta1-3GalNAc(4,6-diS)) are synthesized from A units by GalNAc 4-sulfate 6-Osulfotransferase (4,6-ST). iB units (IdoA(2S)alpha1-3GalNAc(4S)) are synthesized from iA units by UST, and thus, UST is involved in the biosynthesis of both D and iB units (Figure 2). In some cases, GlcA residues of D and E units may be iduronated: iD units (IdoA(2S)alpha1-3GalNAc(6S)) and iE units (IdoAalpha1-3GalNAc(4,6-diS)). respectively. Furthermore, a small portion of disaccharide units are trisulfated: T units (GlcA(2S)beta1-3GalNAc(4,6-diS)). The combination of these various disaccharide units leads to the enormous structural heterogeneity in CS chains.

# 4. FUNCTIONAL SIGNIFICANCE OF STRUCTURAL VARIATION OF CS CHAINS

# 4.1. Structural change of CS chains during development of the brain

The structure of CS changes during development, aging and pathological processes (32-35). Figure 3 reveals the developmental change of the CS structures in the mouse

cerebral cortex and cerebellum (32,33). A, C and O units are the major components of the CS in cerebral cortex (Figure 3A). While the amounts of A unit gradually increased during development, those of O unit decreased. The amounts of C unit peaked at postnatal day 7 (P7), and decreased thereafter. Similar developmental changes were observed in the postnatal cerebellum (Figure 3C). In contrast, the expression of oversulfated structures differed quite markedly between the two regions (Figure 3B and D). In the cerebral cortex, significant amounts of E unit were observed during development with almost no B unit (Figure 3B). Although the expression of D unit was low, it gradually increased after E18. On the other hand, the oversulfated structures showed a quite characteristic pattern of expression in the cerebellum (Figure 3D). D unit was highly expressed, its level peaking at P10 and then rapidly decreasing. While the expression of E unit gradually decreased, that of B unit increased during postnatal development. So, it seems that the expression of E, D and B units correlated with the early, middle and later stages of postnatal development of the cerebellum, respectively. The expression of E and D/B units was highly correlated with the expression of 4,6-ST and UST mRNAs, respectively, suggesting the expression of these structures to be transcriptionally regulated by these enzymes.

The developmental and regional changes in the structure of CS were also revealed by immunohistochemical analyses using anti-CS monoclonal antibodies (36). Figure 3E-J shows the immunohistochemical staining of P7 and P20 mouse brains with three kinds of monoclonal antibodies against CS epitopes: CS-56, 2H6 and MO-225. At P7, the staining patterns of these antibodies were quite different especially in the cerebrum and cerebellum. Both the cerebrum and cerebellum were stained strongly with CS-56 (Figure 3E), confirming that CS chains were expressed in both regions. However, the staining with 2H6 was weak in the cerebellum, although it was strong in the cerebrum (Figure 3F). In contrast, the cerebellum was strongly stained with MO-225 with little staining in cerebrum (Figure 3G). MO-225 specifically recognizes D unit-rich CS (37), and this immunohistochemical result is consistent with the above disaccharide composition analyses, in which cerebellum was enriched with D unit but its content was low in the cerebrum (Figure 3B and D). The staining pattern with these antibodies apparently changed during development (compare Figure 3E-G with Figure 3H-J). Although the epitopes of CS-56 and 2H6 are not fully characterized (38-40), it is apparent that CS structures change regionally and developmentally in the brain.

### 4.2. CS binds with various proteins in a structuredependent manner

It has been revealed that CS binds with various growth factors, chemokines, axon guidance molecules and extracellular matrix proteins (41-46). Among them, the interaction between CS and pleiotrophin/HB-GAM/HARP, an 18-kDa heparin-binding growth factor (47-49), was intensively studied. Pleiotrophin promotes neurite outgrowth and migration of various types of cells including neurons (47,50-52). It also stimulates the proliferation of various cells and is deeply involved in angiogenesis and tumor growth (53). It is known that syndecan-3 and PTPzeta work as receptors for pleiotrophin (24,54,55). Recently, anaplastic lymphoma

kinase (ALK) has also been proposed to be a pleiotrophin receptor (56), although this notion is highly controversial (57). This kinase may not be a direct receptor for pleiotrophin but a substrate of PTPzeta. That is, ALK may be a downstream molecule of PTPzeta and activated by pleiotrophin through a PTPzeta signaling pathway (58). While pleiotrophin binds to the HS portion of syndecan-3 (54), the CS portion of PTPzeta constitutes a part of the pleiotrophin-binding site (24) (see below).

Figure 4A-D shows the interaction between pleiotrophin and commercially available CS preparations revealed using a surface plasmon resonance biosensor (36). Binding assays were performed for whale cartilage CS-A (O unit : A unit : C unit : D unit : E unit = 1.6 : 76.2 : 19.3 : 2.7 : 0.3), pig skin CS-B (O unit : A/iA unit : iB unit : C unit : D unit = 0.7 : 90.0 : 6.5 : 1.9 : 0.6), shark cartilage CS-D (O unit : A unit : C unit : D unit : E unit = 1.5 : 25.9 : 50.4 : 18.8 : 3.4) and squid cartilage CS-E (O unit : A unit : C unit : E unit = 5.9 : 22.9 : 9.6 : 61.5 (59). CS-A showed no binding to pleiotrophin at the concentrations tested (Figure 4A). The other CS preparations bound with pleiotrophin with distinct affinities. CS-E showed the strongest affinity for pleiotrophin with a Kd of 0.76 nM (Figure 4D), and CS-D had moderate affinity for pleiotrophin with a Kd of 2.7 nM (Figure 4C). CS-B showed much less affinity (Kd = 34 nM) in comparison with CS-D and -E (Figure 4B). These results indicated that the binding between CS and pleiotrophin is highly dependent on the CS structure. The contents of oversulfated structures in CS-E, CS-D, CS-B and CS-A were ~62, ~22, ~7, and 3%, respectively, and seems to correlate with the affinity for pleiotrophin. In fact, using oligosaccharides prepared from CS-D, we observed that the affinity between pleiotrophin and these oligosaccharides was critically dependent on the amount of D unit (60).

Using the same CS preparations, Ship et al. revealed that CS interacted with FGFs and various axon guidance molecules (45). CS-E strongly bound to FGF2, slit2, netrin1, semaphorin5B, ephrinA1 and ephrinA5, and weakly interacted with FGF1. The other CS preparations showed weak affinity for these proteins. From the finding that CS-E interacted strongly with these proteins, they suggested that the E structure plays a critical role in the formation of high affinity binding Furthermore, Mikami et al. sites for various proteins. indicated that a cell adhesion molecule, contactin-1, bound strongly with CS-E but not with CS-A and CS-C (61). CS-E coated on substrates promoted neurite extension of hippocampal neurons in vitro, in which contactin-1 on neurons acted as a CS-E receptor. However, CS-E has an extremely high oversulfated structure content compared with the other commercial CS preparations and the CS chains in the brain. Thus, the data obtained using CS-E should be carefully interpreted, because the extremely high negative charge density of CS-E may explain such specific activity.

Sugahara's group purified CS chains form adult and embryonic pig brains, and examined their interactions with various proteins (62). While the CS preparations from embryonic brain (e-CS) contained 8~9% IdoA-containing disaccharides, those from adult brain (a-CS) did not (<1%). Though both preparations showed similar amounts of



**Figure 4.** Binding of various chondroitin sulfate and phosphacan preparations with pleiotrophin. (A-D) Various concentrations of whale cartilage CS-A (A), pig skin CS-B (B), shark cartilage CS-D (C) and squid cartilage CS-E (D) were applied onto a pleiotrophin-immobilized biosensor using the BIAcore system (36). The samples were injected at 75 s and the dissociation phase began at 425 s. (E-H) Various concentrations of phosphacan bearing chondroitin sulfate without D unit (E, PG1) and phosphacan containing D unit (G, PG3) were applied onto a pleiotrophin-immobilized biosensor using the BIAcore system (36). The samples were injected at 75 s and the dissociation phase higher affinity for pleiotrophin than PG1. However, both phosphacan preparations showed similar low affinity binding to pleiotrophin after chondroitinase ABC treatment (F and H). The samples were injected at 80 s, and the dissociation phase began at 800 s.

oversulfated disaccharides (2.5~3.8%), e-CS showed higher affinity for FGF-2, FGF-10, FGF-18, pleiotrophin and midkine than a-CS did. In addition, e-CS coated on substrates promoted neurite extension of hippocampal neurons, but such activity was not observed for a-CS. They further analyzed the interaction of pleiotrophin with oligosaccharides isolated from the chondroitinase B-digested e-CS (63). They indicated that decasaccharides containing E/iE, B/iB and D/iD units showed strong affinity for pleiotrophin. Thus, it seems that critical oversulfated structures, especially iduronated ones, were clustered in e-CS, and contributed to the high affinity binding with pleiotrophin.

# 4.3. Structural variation of CS regulates the binding affinity of phosphacan for pleiotrophin

Since CS chains are present in the form of proteoglycans, the binding assays using free CS chains may not reflect the physiological interactions. In fact, Herndon *et al.* indicated that core proteins can drastically strengthen the affinity of glycosaminoglycans for various proteins (43). Thus, we analyzed the binding of pleiotrophin with phosphacan preparations bearing CS of different structures (36). As described previously, the structures of CS chains differs depending on the region and developmental stage of the brain (Figure 3). So, we anticipated that phosphacan with different



**Figure 5.** Oversulfated CS structures are required for neuronal migration. The cortices of mouse embryos were electroporated *in utero* with shRNA constructs at E14 and harvested 4 days later. Control GFP-positive neurons actively migrated from the ventricular zone (VZ) to the cortical plate (CP) (B and E). In contrast, GFP-positive neurons electroporated with shRNA constructs of UST (C) and 4,6-ST (D) accumulated in the lower intermediate zone (IZ) and subventricular zone (SVZ) (asterisks) showing multipolar morphology (F) (33). The nuclei were stained with TO-PRO-3 (A). MZ: marginal zone.

CS chains can be purified from appropriate regions of the brains of various developmental stages. Immunohistochemical analyses using MO-225, which recognizes D unit-rich CS, indicated that D unit was poorly expressed in P7 cerebral cortex (Figure 3G). Thus, we purified phosphacan from P7 rat cerebral cortex and found that this preparation (PG1) contained no D unit as expected (O unit : A unit : C unit : D unit = 4.3 : 63.6 : 32.1 : 0). We also purified phosphacan from P12 cerebral cortex (PG2). Compared with PG1, PG2 showed higher and lower contents of A and C units, respectively, with no D unit (O unit : A unit : C unit : D unit = 2.7 : 83.2 : 14.1 : 0). On the other hand, phosphacan purified from P20 whole brain (PG3) contained 1.3% D unit (O unit : A unit : C unit : D unit = 0.9 : 85.8 : 6.0 : 1.3). The chain lengths of CS and CS contents of these preparations did not differ significantly.

Analyses using a surface plasmon resonance biosensor indicated that PG3 had  $\sim$ 5-fold stronger affinity for pleiotrophin (Kd = 0.14 nM) than PG1(Kd = 0.66 nM) and PG2 (Kd = 0.57 nM), although these preparations showed

similar low affinity binding to pleiotrophin after chondroitinase ABC treatment (Kd =  $\sim$ 1.5 nM) (Figure 4E-H). PG1 and PG2 showed similar affinity for pleiotrophin, although they differed significantly in the amounts of A and C units they contained. On the other hand, PG3 showed higher affinity for pleiotrophin than PG2, in spite of similar levels of A and C units. Considering the importance of oversulfated structures to the binding of pleiotrophin, we concluded that the presence of 1.3% D unit in the CS of PG3 strengthened the affinity for pleiotrophin. These experiments clearly indicated that structural variation of CS chains, even if subtle, can play critical roles in the determination of binding affinities of CS proteoglycans for their ligands.

# 4.4. Functions of oversulfated CS structures in proliferation of neural progenitor cells

In the developing cerebral cortex, precursors of pyramidal neurons are generated from neural progenitor cells (radial glia) in the ventricular zone (VZ) (64) (Figure 5E). The neural progenitor cells in the VZ express various CS

sulfotransferases including UST and 4,6-ST (33,65). Faissner's group indicated that these progenitor cells expressed CS epitopes recognized by a monoclonal antibody, 473HD (66). When the neural progenitor cells were cultured in the presence of 473HD, the generation of neurospheres was significantly reduced. A similar suppression of neurosphere formation and proliferation was observed after the treatment of progenitor cells with chondroitinase ABC (67). Furthermore, injection of chondroitinase ABC into the telencephalic ventricles of mouse embryos *in utero* resulted in a reduction of cell proliferation in VZ and a diminution of self-renewing radial glia. Since the 473HD monoclonal antibody has been reported to react with some D unit-containing sequences in CS (39), this oversulfated CS structure seems to be involved in the proliferation of neural progenitor cells.

Oohira's group indicated that neural progenitor cells in the VZ were surrounded by various CS proteoglycans including neurocan, phosphacan and neuroglycan C (68). The CS preparations purified from early embryonic rat cortex contained relatively high levels of iA and E units, and promoted FGF-2-mediated proliferation of neural progenitor cells. Commercially available iA unit-rich CS-B and CS-E preparations also exerted similar effects on progenitor cells, suggesting that iA and E units are involved in the proliferation of neural progenitor cells. On the other hand, in the presence of EGF and FGF-2, standard conditions for neurosphere culture, CS-D and CS-E but not CS-B promoted cell proliferation. Thus, it seems that neural progenitor cells require distinct CS structures for cell proliferation in a contextdependent manner.

## 4.5. Function of oversulfated CS structures in neuronal migration

To directly reveal the functions of oversulfated structures in the development of the cerebral cortex, we tried to downregulate the expression of oversulfated structures in the cerebral cortex in vivo (33). Since the oversulfated structures in the CS chains are generated by the two CS sulfotransferases. UST and 4.6-ST (Figure 2), we knocked down these enzymes in the developing cerebral cortex using in utero electroporation. The uterine horns of pregnant mice were exposed, and shRNA constructs of UST and 4,6-ST were injected into the lateral ventricles of the embryos (E14). The application of electrical pulses across the heads of embryos resulted in the electroporation of plasmid DNAs into the neural progenitor cells in the ventricular zone. The uterine horns were returned into the abdominal cavity, and the embryos were allowed to develop until E18. Then, the brains were removed from the embryos, and the electroporated GFP-positive neurons were observed (Figure 5A-D).

The postmitotic neurons generated in VZ firstly move to the subventricular zone (SVZ), where they enter a multipolar stage (69) (Figure 5E). These multipolar cells show meandering behavior in the SVZ and intermediate zone (IZ) for various periods, and then transform into a bipolar shape and migrate radially from the IZ to cortical plate (CP) along radial glial fibers, processes of radial glia spanning all the cortical layers. In the CP, neurons detach from radial glial fibers, and early and later born neurons occupy the deep and superficial layers, respectively, leading to an inside-out

lamination of the cerebral cortex. The neurons electroporated with the control plasmids migrated radially along radial glial fibers from the VZ toward the CP, and many post-migratory neurons were accumulated in the CP (Figure 5B). In contrast, the neurons electroporated with the shRNA constructs of UST and 4,6-ST accumulated in the SVZ and lower IZ (33) (Figure 5C and D). It is remarkable that the knockdown effects of 4,6-ST were severer than those of UST. While a significant portion of UST-knocked down cells reached the CP, most of the neurons expressing shRNAs of 4,6-ST accumulated in the SVZ and few were found in the CP. Because the level of E unit generated by 4,6-ST was much higher than that of D unit in the embryonic cortex, the knockdown of 4,6-ST should decrease the oversulfated structures more effectively than that This may explain the difference in the of UST (33). knockdown effects.

The knocked down cells accumulated in the SVZ and the deep IZ showed a multipolar morphology (Figure 5C and D), suggesting that knockdown of these enzymes disturbed the transition of neurons from the multipolar migration stage to the radial migration stage (33) (Figure 5F). This transition could be induced by cytoskeletal changes stimulated by some extracellular factors or by the changes in the adhesive properties of neurons. Pleiotrophin induces the migration of cortical neurons by binding with PTPzeta in vitro, and has been found to distribute along radial glial fibers (52,70) As described above, pleiotrophin binds strongly with PTPzeta bearing oversulfated CS chains, and thus, knockdown of 4,6-ST and UST might suppress the signaling of this growth factor in the cortical neurons. Furthermore, it has been revealed that CS proteoglycans associate with several integrin family members, which are critically involved in neuronal migration (71). Melanoma CS proteoglycan (MCSP)/NG2 proteoglycan interacts with alpha<sub>4</sub>beta<sub>1</sub> integrin, and PTPzeta also associates with alpha<sub>4</sub>beta<sub>1</sub>, alpha<sub>6</sub>beta<sub>1</sub> and alpha<sub>v</sub>beta<sub>3</sub> integrins (72-74). It has been revealed that CS binds with alpha<sub>4</sub>beta<sub>1</sub> integrin via a basic amino acid-rich sequence in the alpha<sub>4</sub> subunit (72). CS oversulfated structures might strengthen the integrin-CS proteoglycan interaction, leading to the enhanced signaling of integrins.

# 5. SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION MECHANISM OF PTPzeta

### 5.1. Tyrosine phosphatases

The tyrosine phosphorylation levels of cytoplasmic proteins are determined by the coordinated activities of protein tyrosine kinases and protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs). PTPs are a large family of enzymes that are defined by an active-site signature motif,  $HCX_5R$ , in which the cysteine residue attacks the substrate phosphate as a nucleophile (75). Like protein tyrosine kinases, PTPs are grouped into receptor-type PTPs and cytoplasmic nonreceptor PTPs. Receptor-type PTPs are composed of an extracellular region, a transmembrane segment, and one or two tyrosine phosphatase domains (D1 and D2). The extracellular regions show marked structural diversity with immunoglobulin-, fibronectin type III-, meprin-, and carbonic anhydrase-like domains.

Receptor-type PTPs have high catalytic activity in an isolated form, and therefore, the signal transduction of these

receptors is considered to be based on a stimulus-induced inactivation of enzymatic activity (75). Although many homophilic interactions and heterologous binding partners have been reported for receptor-type PTPs, a little is known about the effects of these interactions upon the phosphatase activities. However, it is generally believed that receptor-type PTPs are inactivated by ligand-induced dimerization. Recently, it has been established that PTPs are inactivated by reversible oxidation of the catalytic cysteine residue by reactive oxygen species (ROS). The level of ROS is increased in response to various growth factors, cytokines and calcium signals by the activation of NADPH oxidases. Therefore, the signaling of receptor-type PTPs may be initiated by indirect inactivation after the generation of ROS as well as by direct inactivation after ligand-induced dimerization.

### 5.2. Signaling mechanism of PTPzeta

Among the receptor-type PTPs, PTPzeta is quite unique, because it is synthesized as a CS proteoglycan (17, 19). This receptor uses pleiotrophin as a ligand, which is the first soluble ligand found to trigger the signaling of a receptortype PTP (24,55). Pleiotrophin binds to the extracellular region of PTPzeta and induces its dimerization, leading to inactivation of the tyrosine phosphatase activity (24,29,55,76). As described above, PTPzeta also binds with many other proteins, however, it is unclear whether these binding partners inactivate the catalytic activity of PTPzeta. As revealed by the binding assay using phosphacan (Figure 4), the affinity of PTPzeta for pleiotrophin is regulated by the CS portion of this Notably, the oversulfated D structure greatly receptor. increases the binding affinity (36,60). Pleiotrophin stimulation increases the tyrosine phosphorylation levels of PTPzeta substrates because of inactivation of the tyrosine phosphatase activity. beta-catenin, GIT1/Cat-1, fyn, beta-adducin, p190RhoGAP, ALK and DNER have been identified as substrates of PTPzeta (55,58,77-81). It seems that pleiotrophin-PTPzeta signaling regulates diverse cellular processes by changing the tyrosine phosphorylation levels of these substrates. These processes include neurite extension, cell-cell adhesion, migration of normal and tumor cells, learning and tumor growth (24,50-52,55,78-82).

### 5.3. PTPzeta and morphogenesis of Purkinje cells

The cerebellar cortex expresses CS chains highly enriched with D unit, which surrounds Purkinje cells (32,35,83) (Figure 3). Thus, we examined the roles of CS in the development of Purkinje cells using an organotypic slice culture system of rat cerebellum (84). Most control Purkinje cells had a single primary dendrite, which was directed toward the pial surface and branched extraordinarily (84,85) (Figure 6B). When cerebellar slices were cultured in the presence of chondroitinase ABC, the number of Purkinje cells with multiple primary dendrites increased (84). Furthermore, many of the primary dendrites were disoriented toward the granule cell layer. A similar malformation of Purkinje cells was observed when slices were treated with CS preparations. The effects of CS were structure-dependent, and CS-D and CS-E but not CS-A induced malformation of Purkinje cells. Since this selectivity was similar to that of the inhibition of pleiotrophin-phosphacan binding (24,29), we next examined the effects of function-blocking antibodies against PTPzeta and pleiotrophin. Both treatments induced malformation of Purkinje cells, indicating that CS-mediated pleiotrophin-PTPzeta signaling plays important roles in dendrite formation of Purkinje cells.

Immunohistochemical and biochemical analyses indicated that Purkinje cells were surrounded with phosphacan bearing D unit-rich CS and pleiotrophin, and chondroitinase ABC and CS-D treatments of the cerebellar slices resulted in a marked decrease in the pleiotrophin content of the tissue (83). This suggested that phosphacan with D unit-rich CS chains served as a reservoir of pleiotrophin around Purkinje cells. On the other hand, PTPzeta was expressed in Purkinje cells and Bergmann glia (81, 84). Bergmann glia closely associated with the dendrites and cell bodies of Purkinje cells, and CS was deposited between the Purkinje cell surface and the processes of Bergmann glia (83). These observations suggested that pleiotrophin-PTPzeta signaling contributes to the morphogenesis of Purkinje cells by regulating Purkinje cell-Bergmann glia interaction.

### 5.4. DNER as a substrate of PTPzeta

To reveal the signaling mechanism of PTPzeta in the morphogenesis of Purkinje cells, we tried to identify the PTPzeta substrate in the Purkinje cells (81). We found that Delta/Notch-like epidermal growth factor (EGF)-related receptor (DNER) associated with PTPzeta. DNER is a singlepass transmembrane protein with 10 EGF-like repeats in the extracellular domain (86) (Figure 6A). DNER is highly expressed in Purkinje cells and acts as a ligand of Notch expressed by Bergmann glia. It has been revealed that DNER-Notch signaling regulates the morphogenesis and maturation of Bergmann glia (87). We found that DNER was co-localized with PTPzeta in the cytoplasmic vesicles present in the dendrites of Purkinje cells, suggesting that PTPzeta is involved in the intracellular transport of DNER (81). The cytoplasmic region of DNER contains a tyrosine-based sorting motif, and the C-terminal tail with a dileucine-type sorting motif, which are involved in the intracellular transport of this protein (86) (Figure 6A). When a DNER mutant lacking the cytoplasmic region was expressed in Purkinje cells, they extended multiple primary dendrites, the morphology of which was similar to that induced after inhibition of PTPzeta-pleiotrophin signaling (Figure 6C). This DNER mutant was accumulated on the plasma membrane of Purkinje cells, suggesting that endocytosis of DNER is required for normal morphogenesis (81).

We next examined the dynamics of DNER transport by using Neuro-2a neuroblastoma cells. While normal DNER protein was actively internalized by these cells (Figure 6D), various DNER mutants lacking sorting motifs were accumulated on the cell surface (Figure 6E). The Neuro-2a cells expressing these DNER mutants extended several processes, although the cells expressing normal DNER had a rounded shape and no processes (81) (Figure 6D). This suggested that the sorting motifs in the cytoplasmic region of DNER regulate the endocytosis of this protein and the blocking of this process leads to neurite extension. Our biochemical studies indicated that the tyrosine residue in the tyrosine-based sorting motif (Tyr-677) was phosphorylated, and dephosphorylated by PTPzeta (Figure 6A). Furthermore, we found that pleiotrophin increased the tyrosine



**Figure 6.** Pleiotrophin-PTPzeta signaling regulates endocytosis of DNER. (A) DNER is a Notch-related transmembrane protein with 10 EGF-like domains in the extracellular region. The cytoplasmic region contains a tyrosine-based sorting motif and a dileucine-type sorting motif (green box), which are involved in endocytosis and intracellular transport of this protein. The tyrosine residue in the tyrosine-based sorting motif is phosphorylated, leading to an inhibition of endocytosis. (B-E) When DNER mutants lacking the sorting motifs were overexpressed in the Purkinje cells (C) and Neuro-2a cells (E), odd neurites were extended (C and E, arrowheads) compared with control cells (B and D) (81). While normal DNER was actively endocytosed and accumulated in the cytoplasm (D), DNER mutants lacking sorting motifs were detected on the plasma membrane (E). (F and G) Schematic models of pleiotrophin-PTPzeta signaling. PTPzeta associates with DNER and dephosphorylates this protein (F). Pleiotrophin dimerizes PTPzeta and inactivates its phosphatase activity, leading to an increase in the tyrosine phosphorylation of DNER (G). Tyrosine phosphorylated DNER accumulates on the plasma membrane, leading to neurite extension. D unit in the CS chains (red circle) stimulates pleiotrophin signaling (G).

phosphorylation of DNER and suppressed the endocytosis of this protein (81). Thus, it is considered that PTPzetapleiotrophin signaling inactivated the tyrosine-based sorting motif of DNER by promoting the phosphorylation of Tyr-677.

These observations can be interpreted as follows. In the absence of pleiotrophin stimulation, PTPzeta constitutively dephosphorylates DNER (Figure 6F). In this situation, DNER is actively endocytosed, and neurite extension is suppressed. When pleiotrophin inactivates the phosphatase activity of PTPzeta, the tyrosine phosphorylation level of DNER increases and the endocytosis is suppressed (Figure 6G). In this situation, neurite extension is promoted. Oversulfated D structures in the CS chains on PTPzeta may strengthen the pleiotrophin signaling (Figure 6G). It is likely that such regulated tyrosine phosphorylation of DNER contributes to the



**Figure 7.** Perineuronal net and neural plasticity. (A and B) Perineuronal nets in the cerebral cortex (A) and parvocellular reticular nucleus (B) were immunohistochemically stained with MAb6B4. (C) Pathway for the production of the *O*-mannosyl-linked HNK-1 carbohydrate proposed by Abott *et al.* (105). POMT1/POMT2 catalyzes the transfer of mannose (Man) to a serine/threonine residue, followed by PomGnT1 adding a GlcNAc residue in beta1-2-linkage. Next, GnT-Vb adds GlcNAc in beta1-6-linkage. After the addition of galactose (Gal) residues by beta4-galactosyltransferases (beta4GalTs), GlcATs and HNK-1 sulfotransferase (HNK-1ST) generate the HNK-1 epitope. (D) After the intraocular injection of biotinylated Otx2, this protein was transported to the visual cortex, where it was internalized by perineuronal net (PNN)- and parvalbumin (PV)-positive interneurons.

morphogenesis of Purkinje cells. The controlled endocytosis of DNER may also contribute to the regulation of Notch signaling in the Bergmann glia. We observed that inhibition of pleiotrophin-PTPzeta signaling suppressed the expression of GLAST, a glial glutamate transporter, in Bergmann glia (84). There is a possibility that pleiotrophin-PTPzeta signaling regulates the differentiation of both Purkinje cells and Bergmann glia by modulating the DNER-Notch signaling pathway.

### 6. NEURAL PLASTICITY AND CS PROTEOGLYCANS

#### 6.1. Perineuronal net and CS proteoglycans

In the adult central nervous system, the cell bodies and proximal dendrites of a subset of neurons are surrounded by a CS-rich extracellular matrix that is called the perineuronal net (88-90) (Figure 7A and B). This structure is excluded from the synaptic sites, forming a reticular extracellular matrix enveloping neurons. The perineuronal net is composed of various CS proteoglycans including aggrecan, neurocan, versican, brevican, and phosphacan as well as hyaluronic acid, tenascin-R and link proteins (91). Treatment with *Streptomyces* hyaluronidase, which specifically degrades hyaluronic acid, released CS proteoglycans from the perineuronal net, indicating that these proteoglycans are anchored to hyaluronic acid. Furthermore, tenascin-R-deficient mice had a less developed perineuronal net, suggesting that CS proteoglycans, hyaluronic acid and tenascin-R form ternary complexes in the perineuronal net (92).

It is remarkable that different monoclonal antibodies against CS such as Cat-316, MAb 473 and MAb 376 immunohistochemically stained distinct but partially overlapping neuronal subsets, suggesting that the structure of CS accumulated in the perineuronal net varies depending on neuronal type (89,93,94). This means that different neurons may be surrounded by CS of different structures (sugar code). These CS might accumulate different proteins around neurons in a cell type-specific manner. Furthermore, CS binds with calcium ions in a structure-dependent manner, and such different calcium chelating activities of CS might modify the voltage-dependent calcium channels on neurons in a cell typespecific manner (95).

## 6.2. Perineuronal net and HNK-1 epitope

In addition to CS, some sulfated oligosaccharides are also concentrated in the perineuronal net. Cat-315 is a monoclonal antibody that immunohistochemically stains the perineuronal net of various neurons in the central nervous system (90,96). It has been revealed that Cat-315 recognized a glycoform of aggrecan in the adult brain (94). However, a recent study by Dino et al. revealed that PTPzeta/phosphacan was decorated with Cat-315-reactive carbohydrates in the developing central nervous system (97). This Cat-315-positive PTPzeta/phosphacan was synthesized by neurons and expressed at extrasynaptic sites prior to synapse formation, suggesting that this glycoform of PTPzeta/phosphacan prepatterns the neuronal surface before innervation. Cat-315reactive carbohydrates might regulate both the formation and maintenace of synapses on specific neurons by changing the core proteins to which they are attached. Detailed biochemical analyses by Dino et al. (97) indicated that Cat-315 recognized a subset of O-mannosyl-linked HNK-1 epitopes on PTPzeta/phosphacan in the developing brain and on aggrecan in the adult brain (Figure 7C). *O*-mannosyl-linked glycosylation is rare in mammals and only observed in the nervous system and muscle (98). In the brain, however,  $\sim 30\%$ of O-linked glycans are O-mannosyl-linked glycans (99). It is well known that defects in the O-mannosyl glycosylation of alpha-dystroglycan in muscle cause congenital muscular dystrophy (98). On the other hand, the HNK-1 epitope, a 3sulfated GlcA linked to a N-acetyllactosamine structure (Figure 7C), is expressed in lymphoid and nervous systems, and is considered to play important roles in cell-cell and cellmatrix interactions (100). We previously prepared a monoclonal antibody, MAb 6B4, that recognizes PTPzeta/phosphacan purified from early postnatal animals This antibody immunohistochemically stained the (101). perineuronal net of a subset of neurons in the adult brain, the staining pattern of which was similar to that of Cat-315 (Figure

7A and B). We recently revealed that MAb 6B4 recognized carbohydrate epitopes closely related or identical to those of Cat-315 (102). Thus, the experimental results obtained using Cat-315 and MAb6B4, both of which are commercially available, should be interpreted carefully, because these antibodies may recognize PTPzeta/phosphacan and/or aggrecan depending on the age of animals.

Inactivating mutations of the glycosyltransferases that act early in the O-mannosyl glycosylation pathway, POMT1 and PomGnT1, cause congenital diseases with severe neurological defects (103,104) (Figure 7C), suggesting that Omannosyl-linked glycans play critical roles in the nervous system. Recently, it was found that the signaling of PTPzeta is regulated by *O*-mannosylation revealed by manipulating a glycosyltransferase, GnT-Vb (105). After addition of Nacetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) to the mannose (Man) at position 2 by PomGnT1, GnT-Vb adds GlcNAc to Man at position 6, leading to the synthesis of 2,6-disubstituted O-mannosyl They are further modified by beta4glycans. galactosyltransferases, glucuronyltransferases and HNK-1 sulfotransferase, forming the HNK-1 epitope (Figure 7C). Overexpression of GnT-Vb in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells resulted in a remarkable increase of the O-mannosyl-linked HNK-1 carbohydrate on PTPzeta accompanied by decreased cell-cell adhesion and increased cell migration on laminin. The PTPzeta highly decorated with the HNK-1 epitope was stably retained on the cell surface, and showed increased signaling after pleiotrophin stimulation compared with PTPzeta bearing little HNK-1 epitope. It has been proposed that O-mannosyl-linked HNK-1 on PTPzeta bound with galectin-1, which suppressed the endocytosis of PTPzeta and enhanced its dimerization on the plasma membrane (105). Thus, HNK-1 epitope as well as CS on PTPzeta plays critical roles in the signaling of this receptor. Functional roles of the O-mannosyl-linked HNK-1 epitope on aggrecan is a future important problem, because this carbohydrate seems to be attached to aggrecan in the perineuronal net (94).

### 6.3. CS proteoglycans and neural plasticity

The formation of the perineuronal net is neuronal activity-dependent both in vitro and in vivo (106,107). Destruction of perineuronal net by chondroitinase ABC treatment in vitro increased the excitability of hippocampal parvalbumin-positive interneurons, suggesting that the perineuronal net is involved in regulation of the activity of GABAergic interneurons (106). The perineuronal net is detected late in development, when synaptic connections mature and are stabilized (107). From these properties, perineuronal net has been considered to be involved in the critical period plasticity, because this type of plasticity occurs in young animals in a neuronal activity-dependent manner with a major contribution of GABAergic interneurons (see below). Many neuronal circuits are intensively remodeled by experience during critical periods in early postnatal life (108). After the critical period, neural plasticity is remarkably reduced, and little remodeling of neuronal circuits occurs. A typical critical period is observed in ocular dominance plasticity. Monocular deprivation (MD), the occlusion of one eye, during the critical period leads to a shift of ocular dominance of cortical neurons in the primary visual cortex in favor of the non-deprived eye. Loss of visual acuity through

the deprived eye persists into adulthood, but MD causes no shift of ocular dominance in adult animals. The appearance of perineuronal net in the visual cortex occurs at the close of the critical period of visual plasticity (109). Dark rearing of animals from birth, which prolongs the critical period in the visual cortex, suppresses the formation of the perineuronal nets. Reintroducing such animals into a normal light-dark cycle rapidly terminates the visual plasticity, and the perineuronal net soon develops (107). These observations suggested that the perineuronal net is involved in the regulation of ocular dominance plasticity. This was confirmed by Pizzorusso et al. (107), who injected adult rat visual cortex with chondroitinase ABC. Since chondroitinase ABC degrades both CS and hvaluronic acid, it is considered to destroy hyaluronic acid-lecticans-tenascin complexes as well as remove CS chains from CS proteoglycans (110). After the injection of chondroitinase ABC into adult rats, MD caused an ocular dominance shift toward the non-deprived eye, as in the young animals. This showed that chondroitinase ABC reactivated ocular dominance plasticity in the adult visual cortex probably through destruction of the perineuronal net.

CS proteoglycans have been considered to inhibit the extension of axons (2,3), and therefore, chondroitinase ABC might have removed the non-permissive environment for the neuronal activity-dependent generation and/or rearrangement of synaptic connections. In other words, the perineuronal net may stabilize the synaptic connections through the CS proteoglycan-rich extracellular matrix at the end of critical periods. Removal of CS may lead to the destabilization of neuronal circuits and to the formation of new synaptic connections in an experience-dependent manner. Recently, a new molecular mechanism of ocular dominance plasticity has been proposed by Hensch's group (111, 112). They found that ocular dominance plasticity after MD failed to occur in mice lacking a GABA-synthesizing enzyme, GAD65 (111). In these knockout mice, synaptic release of GABA was significantly reduced, however, infusion of benzodiazepines, which enhance GABA signaling, restored ocular dominance plasticity. Furthermore, treatments with benzodiazepines prematurely activated this type of plasticity in normal mice. These observations indicated that the development of GABAergic interneurons plays important roles in the critical period plasticity. They further revealed that the maturation of parvalbumin-positive GABAergic interneurons in the primary visual cortex was regulated by Otx2 homeoprotein (108,112). Although Otx2 protein was strongly expressed in these interneurons after the critical period, its mRNA was not detected in the cortex. Rather, Otx2 mRNA was expressed in the retina and lateral geniculate nucleus (LGN), a thalamic relay center in the visual pathway. Surprisingly, after the injection of biotynylated Otx2 protein into the eyes, labeled protein was detected in the visual cortex, where parvalbuminpositive interneurons selectively accumulated this protein (Figure 7D). These observations suggested that Otx2 protein translated in the retina and LGN was transferred along the visual pathway and internalized by parvalbumin-positive interneurons in the visual cortex. Since homeoprotein family members have signals for secretion and internalization in the homeodomain, they may be transferred anterogradely along axons, secreted at synapses and internalized by postsynaptic neurons. The transfer of Otx2 protein seemed to be

experience-dependent, leading to the activity-dependent maturation of parvalbumin-positive GABAergic interneurons. The parvalbumin-positive interneurons were surrounded by the perineuronal net, and chondroitinase ABC treatment of adult brain depleted these cells of Otx2 protein. This suggested that negatively charged CS in the perineuronal net entrapped positively charged Otx2 and promoted uptake of this protein by parvalbumin-positive interneurons. Interestingly, another homeoprotein, En2, was not internalized by these cells. The sugar code, that is, structural variability of CS in the perineuronal net, may contribute to the selective binding and subsequent uptake of specific transcription factors (108).

### 7. PERSPECTIVE

Besides neural development and plasticity, CS proteoglycans play critical roles in various pathological Among them, the regeneration of axons is processes. receiving much attention (3,4). In adult animals, the expression of CS proteoglycans is upregulated around scar tissues after damage to the central nervous system. Axon regeneration fails at scar tissues, leading to severe paralysis and a loss of sensation. However, the injection of chondroitinase ABC into the injured sites resulted in a promotion of axon regeneration (113,114). From this finding, CS proteoglycans are now regarded as the major inhibitor of axon regeneration. It is generally believed that CS chains synthesized by reactive astrocytes inhibit the extension of injured axons at scar tissue (3). However, the mechanism of action of chondroitinase ABC is highly controversial (115-117). As we discussed in this review, mechanisms of the action of CS proteoglycans are not simple, and little is known about the roles of molecular interactions mediated by them. Further basic studies on CS proteoglycans should reveal the unexpected mechanism of their activities and lead to the development of new treatments for many neurological disorders.

### 8. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by grants from the Ministry of Education, Science, Sports, and Culture of Japan and the Naito Foundation

### 9. REFERENCES

1. Christine E Bandtlow and Dieter R Zimmermann: Proteoglycans in the developing brain: new conceptual insight for old proteins. *Physiol Rev* 80, 1267-1290 (2000)

2. Hiroyuki Ichijo: Proteoglycans as cues for axon guidance in formation of retinotectal or retinocollicular projections. *Mol Neurobiol* 30, 23-33 (2004)

3. Jerry Silver and Jared H Miller: Regeneration beyond the glial scar. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 5, 146-156 (2004)

4. JA Del Rio and E Soriano: Overcoming chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan inhibition of axon growth in the injured brain: lessons from chondroitinase ABC. *Curr Pharm Des* 13, 2485-2492 (2007)

5. Jessica C Kwok, Fardad Afshari, Guillermo Garcia-Alias and James W Fawcett: Proteoglycans in the central nervous system: plasticity, regeneration and their stimulation with chondroitinase ABC. *Restor Neurol Neurosci* 26, 131-145 (2008)

6. Atsuhiko Oohira, Fumiko Matsui, Yoshihito Tokita, Shinobu Yamauchi and Sachiko Aono: Moleuclar interactions of neural chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans in the brain development. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 374, 24-34 (2000)

7. Mariano S Viapiano and Russell T Matthews: From barriers to bridges: chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans in neuropathology. *Trends Mol Med* 12, 488-496 (2006)

8. Clare M Galtrey and James W Fawcett: The role of chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans in regeneration and plasticity in the central nervous system. *Brain Res Rev5*4, 1-18 (2007)

9. Dieter R Zimmermann and Maria T Dours-Zimmermann: Extracellular matrix of the central nervous system: from neglect to challenge. *Histochem Cell Biol* 130, 635-653 (2008)

10. Kazuyuki Sugahara and Tadahisa Mikami: Chondroitin/dermatan sulfate in the central nervous system. *Curr Opin Struct Biol* 17, 536-545 (2007)

11. Shuhei Yamada and Kazuyuki Sugahara: Potential therapeutic application of chondroitin sulfate/dermatan sulfate. *Curr Drug Discov Technol* 5, 289-301 (2008)

12. Yu Yamaguchi: Lecticans: organizer of the brain extracellular matrix. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 57, 276-289 (2000)

13. Joanna M Day, Anders I Olin, Alan D Murdoch, Ann Canfield, Takako Sasaki, Rupert Timpl, Timothy E Hardingham and Anders Aspberg: Alternative splicing in the aggrecan G3 domain influences binding interactions with tenascin-C and other extracellular matrix proteins. *J Biol Chem* 279, 12511-12518 (2004)

14. NX Krueger and H Saito: A human transmembrane protein-tyrosine phosphatase, PTPzeta, is expressed in brain and has an N-terminal receptor domain homologous to carbonic anhydrases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 89, 7417-7421 (1992)

15. JB Levy, PD Canoll, O Silvennoinen, G Barnea, B Morse, AM Honegger, JT Huang, LA Cannizzaro, SH Park, T Druck, K Huebner, J Sap, M Ehrlich, JM Musacchio and J Schlessinger: The cloning of a receptor-type protein tyrosine phosphatase expressed in the central nervous system. *J Biol Chem* 268, 10573-10581 (1993)

16. P Maurel, U Rauch, M Flad, RK Margolis and RU Margolis: Phosphacan, a chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan of brain that interacts with neurons and neural cell-adhesion molecules, is an extracellular variant of a receptor-type protein tyrosine phosphatase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 91, 2512-2516 (1994)

17. Nobuaki Maeda, Hiroki Hamanaka, Takafumi Shintani, Taeko Nishiwaki and Masaharu Noda: Multiple receptor-like

protein tyrosine phosphatases in the form of chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan. *FEBS Lett* 354, 67-70 (1994)

18. Jeremy Garwood, Nicolas Heck, Frank Reichardt and Andreas Faissner: Phosphacan short isoform, a novel non-proteoglycan variant of phosphacan/receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase-beta, interacts with neuronal receptors and promotes neurite outgrowth. *J Biol Chem* 278, 24164-24173 (2003)

19. Taeko Nishiwaki, Nobuaki Maeda and Masaharu Noda: Characterization and developmental regulation of proteoglycan-type protein tyrosine phosphatase zeta/ RPTPbeta isoforms. *J Biochem* 123, 458-467 (1998)

20. N Maeda, H Hamanaka, A Oohira and M Noda: Purification, characterization and developmental expression of a brain-specific chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan, 6B4 proteoglycan/phosphacan. *Neuroscience* 67, 23-35 (1995)

21. Hiroki Hamanaka, Nobuaki Maeda and Masaharu Noda: Spatially and temporally regulated modification of the receptor-like protein tyrosine phosphatase zeta/beta isoforms with keratan sulfate in the developing chick brain. *Eur J Neurosci* 9, 2297-2308 (1997)

22. Martin Grumet, Andrea Flaccus and Richard U Margolis: Functional characterization of chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans of brain: interactions with neurons and neural cell adhesion molecules. *J Cell Biol* 120, 815-824 (1993)

23. Elior Peles, Moshe Nativ, Phillip P Campbell, Takeshi Sakurai, Ricardo Martinez, Sima Lev, Douglas O Clary, James Schilling, Gilad Barnea, Gregory D Plowman, Martin Grumet and Joseph Schlessinger: The carbonic anhydrase domain of receptor tyrosine phosphatase beta is a functional ligand for the axonal cell recognition molecule contactin. *Cell* 82, 251-260 (1995)

24. Nobuaki Maeda, Taeko Nishiwaki, Takafumi Shintani, Hiroki Hamanaka and Masaharu Noda: 6B4 proteoglycan/phosphacan, an extracellular variant of receptorlike protein-tyrosine phosphatase zeta/RPTPbeta, binds pleiotrophin/heparin-binding growth-associated molecule (HB-GAM). *J Biol Chem* 271, 21446-21452 (1996)

25. Peter Milev, Patrice Maurel, Monika Haring, Renee K Margolis and Richard U Margolis: TAG-1/Axonin-1 is a high-affinity ligand of neurocan, phosphacan/protein-tyrosine phosphatase-zeta/beta, and N-CAM. *J Biol Chem* 271, 15716-15723 (1996)

26. Takeshi Sakurai, Marc Lustig, Moshe Nativ, John J Hemperly, Joseph Schlessinger, Elior Peles and Martin Grumet: Induction of neurite outgrowth through contactin and Nr-CAM by extracellular regions of glial receptor tyrosine phosphatase beta. *J Cell Biol* 136, 907-918 (1997)

27. Peter Milev, Hubert Monnerie, Susanna Popp, Renee K Margolis and Richard U Margolis: The core protein of the chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan phosphacan is a high-affinity ligand of fibroblast growth factor-2 and potentiates its mitogenic activity. *J Biol Chem* 273, 21439-21442 (1998)

28. Peter Milev, Atsuro Chiba, Monika Haring, Heikki Rauvala, Melitta Schachner, Barbara Ranscht, Renee K Margolis and Richard U Margolis: High affinity binding and overlapping localization of neurocan and phosphacan/protein-tyrosine phosphatase-zeta/beta with tenascin-R, amphoterin, and the heparin-binding growth-associated molecule. *J Biol Chem* 273, 6998-7005 (1998)

29. Nobuaki Maeda, Keiko Ichihara-Tanaka, Terutoshi Kimura, Kenji Kadomatsu, Takashi Muramatsu and Masaharu Noda: A receptor-like protein-tyrosine phosphatase PTPzeta/RPTPbeta binds a heparin-binding growth factor midkine. *J Biol Chem* 274, 12474-12479 (1999)

30. Osami Habuchi: Diversity and functions of glycosaminoglycan sulfotransferases. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1474, 115-127 (2000)

31. Kazuyuki Sugahara and Hiroshi Kitagawa: Recent advances in the study of the biosynthesis and functions of sulfated glycosaminoglycans. *Curr Opin Struct Biol* 10, 518-527 (2000)

32. Maki Ishii and Nobuaki Maeda: Spatiotemporal expression of chondroitin sulfate sulfotransferases in the postnatal developing mouse cerebellum. *Glycobiology* 18, 602-614 (2008)

33. Maki Ishii and Nobuaki Maeda: Oversulfated chondroitin sulfate plays critical roles in the neuronal migration in the cerebral cortex. *J Biol Chem* 283, 32610-32620 (2008)

34. Hiroshi Kitagawa, Kae Tsutsumi, Yuko Tone and Kazuyuki Sugahara: Developmental regulation of the sulfation profile of chondroitin sulfate chains in the chicken embryo brain. *J Biol Chem* 272, 31377-31381 (1997)

35. Chie Mitsunaga, Tadahisa Mikami, Shuji Mizumoto, Junko Fukuda and Kazuyuki Sugahara: Chondroitin sulfate/dermatan sulfate hybrid chains in the development of cerebellum. *J Biol Chem* 281, 18942-18952 (2006)

36. Nobuaki Maeda, Jue He, Yuki Yajima, Tadahisa Mikami, Kazuyuki Sugahara and Tomio Yabe: Heterogeneity of the chondroitin sulfate portion of phosphacan/6B4 proteoglycan regulates its binding affinity for pleiotrophin/heparin-binding growth-associated molecule. *J Biol Chem* 278, 35805-35811 (2003)

37. Masahito Yamagata, Koji Kimata, Yasuteru Oike, Katsuko Tani, Nobuaki Maeda, Keiichi Yoshida, Yukio Shimomura, Masahiko Yoneda and Sakaru Suzuki: A monoclonal antibody that specifically recognizes a glucuronic acid 2-sulfate-containing determinant in intact chondroitin sulfate chain. *J Biol Chem* 262, 4146-4152 (1987)

38. Zafrira Avnur and Benjamin Geiger: Immunocytochemical localization of native chondroitin-sulfate in tissues and

culturted cells using specific monoclonal antibodies. Cell 38, 811-822 (1984)

39. Yumi Ito, Megumi Hikino, Yuki Yajima, Tadahisa Mikami, Swetlana Sirko, Alexander von Holst, Andreas Faissner, Shigeyuki Fukui and Kazuyuki Sugahara: Structural characterization of the monoclonal antibodies 473HD, CS-56, and MO-225 specific for chondroitin sulfate D-type using the oligosaccharide library. *Glycobiology* 15, 593-603 (2005)

40. Sarama S Deepa, Shuhei Yamada, Shigeyuki Fukui and Kazuyuki Sugahara: Structural determination of novel sulfated octasaccharides isolated from chondroitin sulfate of shark cartilage and their application for characterizing monoclonal antibody epitopes. *Glycobiology* 17, 631-645 (2007)

41. Gabriele SV Kuschert, Florence Coulin, Christine A Power, Amanda EI Proudfoot, Rod E Hubbard, Arlene J Hoogewerf and Timothy NC Wells: Glycosaminoglycans interact selectively with chemokines and modulate receptor binding and cellular responses. *Biochemistry* 38, 12959-12968 (1999)

42. Hidekazu Munakata, Keiichi Takagaki, Mitsuo Majima and Masahiko Endo: Interaction between collagens and glycosaminoglycans investigated using a surface plasmon resonance biosensor. *Glycobiology* 9, 1023-1027 (1999)

43. Mary E Herndon, Christopher S Stipp and Arthur D Lander: Interactions of neural glycosaminoglycans and proteoglycans with protein ligands: assessment of selectivity, heterogeneity and the participation of core proteins in binding. *Glycobiology* 9, 143-155 (1999)

44. Keiko Yamaguchi, Hirotoshi Tamaki and Shigeyuki Fukui: Detection of oligosaccharide ligands for hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor (HGF/SF), keratinocyte growth factor (KGF/FGF-7), RANTES and heparin cofactor II by neoglycolipid microarrays of glycosaminoglycan-derived oligosaccharide fragments. *Glycoconj J* 23, 513-524 (2006)

45. Eric L Shipp and Linda C Hsieh-Wilson: Profiling the sulfation specificities of glycosaminoglycan interactions with growth factors and chemotactic proteins using microarrays. *Chem Biol* 14, 195-208 (2007)

46. Krista R Catlow, Jon A Deakin, Zheng Wei, Maryse Delehedde, David G Fernig, Ermanno Gherardi, John T Gallagher, Mauro SG Pavao and Malcolm Lyon: Interactions of hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor with various glycosaminoglycans reveal an important interplay between the presence of iduronate and sulfate density. *J Biol Chem* 283, 5235-5248 (2008)

47. Yue-Sheng Li, Peter G Milner, Anil K Chauhan, Mark A Watson, Ruth M Hoffman, Charles M Kodner, Jeffrey Milbrandt and Thomas F Deuel: Cloning and expression of a developmentally regulated protein that induces mitogenic and neurite outgrowth activity. *Science* 250, 1690-1694 (1990)

48. Jussi Merenmies and Heikki Rauvala: Molecular cloning of the 18-kDa growth-associated protein of developing brain. *J Biol Chem* 265, 16721-16724 (1990)

49. Francis Vacherot, Jean Delbe, Melanie Heroult, Denis Barritault, David G Fernig and Jose Courty: Glycosaminoglycans differentially bind HARP and modulate its biological activity. *J Biol Chem* 274, 7741-7747 (1999)

50. Apostolos Polykratis, Panagiotis Katsoris, Jose Courty and Evangelia Papadimitriou: Characterization of heparin affin regulatory peptide signaling in human endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 280, 22454-22461 (2005)

51. Kan V Lu, Kimberly A Jong, Gloria Y Kim, Jatinder Singh, Ederlyn Q Dia, Koji Yoshimoto, Maria Y Wang, Timothy F Cloughesy, Stanley F Nelson and Paul S Mischel: Differential induction of glioblastoma migration and growth by two forms of pleiotrophin. *J Biol Chem* 280, 26953-26964 (2005)

52. Nobuaki Maeda and Masaharu Noda: Involvement of receptor-like protein tyrosine phosphatase zeta/RPTPbeta and its ligand pleiotrophin/heparin-binding growth-associated molecule (HB-GAM) in neuronal migration. *J Cell Biol* 142, 203-216 (1998)

53. Pablo Perez-Pinera, Yunchao Chang and Thomas F Deuel: Pleiotrophin, a multifunctional tumor promoter through induction of tumor angiogenesis, remodeling of the tumor microenvironment, and activation of stromal fibroblasts. *Cell Cycle* 6, 2877-2883 (2007)

54. Erkki Raulo, Michael A Chernousov, David J Carey, Riitta Nolo and Heikki Rauvala: Isolation of a neuronal cell surface receptor of heparin binding growth-associated molecule (HB-GAM). *J Biol Chem* 269, 12999-13004 (1994)

55. Kung Meng, A Rodriguez-Pena, Todor Dimitrov, Wen Chen, Moshe Yamin, Masaharu Noda and Thomas F Deuel: Pleiotrophin signals increased tyrosine phosphorylation of beta-catenin through inactivation of the intrinsic catalytic activity of the receptor-type protein tyrosine phosphatase beta/zeta. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97, 2603-2608 (2000)

56. Gerald E Stoica, Angera Kuo, Achim Aigner, Iruvanti Sunitha, Boussad Souttou, Claudius Malerczyk, Dana J Caughey, Duanzhi Wen, Alex Karavanov, Anna T Riegel and Anton Wellstein: Identification of anaplastic lymphoma kinase as a receptor for the growth factor pleiotrophin. *J Biol Chem* 276, 16772-16779 (2001)

57. Christel Moog-Lutz, Joffrey Degoutin, Jean Y Gouzi, Yvelyne Frobert, Nicole Brunet-de Carvalho, Jocelyne Bureau, Christophe Creminon and Marc Vigny: Activation and inhibition of anaplastic lymphoma kinase receptor tyrosine kinase by monoclonal antibodies and absence of agonist activity of pleiotrophin. *J Biol Chem* 280, 26039-26048 (2005)

58. Pablo Perez-Pinera, Wei Zhang, Yunchao Chang, Jose Antonio Vega and Thomas F Deuel: Anaplastic lymphoma kinase is activated through the pleiotrophin/receptor protein-tyrosine phosphatase beta/zeta signaling pathway. *J Biol Chem* 282, 28683-28690 (2007)

59. Keiichi Yoshida, Satoshi Miyauchi, Hiroshi Kikuchi, Akira Tawada and Kiyochika Tokuyasu: Analysis of unsaturated

disaccharides from glycosaminoglycuronan by highperformance liquid chromatography. *Anal Biochem* 177, 327-332 (1989)

60. Nobuaki Maeda, Nobuna Fukazawa and Toshihiro Hata: The binding of chondroitin sulfate to pleiotrophin/heparinbinding growth-associated molecule is regulated by chain length and oversulfated structures. *J Biol Chem* 281, 4894-4902 (2006)

61. Tadahisa Mikami, Daiki Yasunaga and Hiroshi Kitagawa: Contactin-1 is a functional receptor for neuroregulatory chondroitin sulfate-E. *J Biol Chem* 284, 4494-4499 (2009)

62. Xingfeng Bao, Shuji Nishimura, Tadahisa Mikami, Shuhei Yamada, Nobuyuki Itoh, Kazunari Sugahara: Chondroitin sulfate/dermatan sulfate hybrid chains from embryonic pig brain, which contain a higher proportion of L-iduronic acid than those from adult pig brain, exhibit neuritogenic and growth factor binding activities. *J Biol Chem* 279, 9765-9776 (2004)

63. Xingfeng Bao, Takashi Muramatsu and Kazuyuki Sugahara: Demonstration of the pleiotrophin-binding oligosaccharide sequences isolated from chondroitin sulfate/dermatan sulfate hybrid chains of embryonic pig brains. *J Biol Chem* 280, 35318-35328 (2005)

64. Stephen C Noctor, Veronica Martinez-Cerdeno, Lidija Ivic and Arnold R Kriegstein: Cortical neurons arise in symmetric and asymmetric division zones and migrate through specific phases. *Nat Neurosci* 7, 136-144 (2004)

65. Kaoru Akita, Alexander von Holst, Yoko Furukawa, Tadahisa Mikami, Kazuyuki Sugahara and Andreas Faissner: Expression of multiple chondroitin/dermatan sulfotransferases in the neurogenic regions of the embryonic and adult CNS imply that complex chondroitin sulfates have a role in neural stem cell maintenance. Stem Cells 26, 798-809 (2008)

66. Alexander von Holst, Swetlana Sirko and Andreas Faissner: The unique 473-HD-chondroitin sulfate epitope is expressed by radial glia and involved in neural precursor cell proliferation. J Neurosci 26, 4082-4094 (2006)

67. Swetlana Sirko, Alexander von Holst, Andrea Wizenmann, Magdalena Gotz and Andreas Faissner: Chondroitin sulfate glycosaminoglycans control proliferation, radial glia cell differentiation and neurogenesis in neural stem/progenitor cells. Development 134, 2727-2738 (2007)

68. Michiru Ida, Takuya Shuo, Kanako Hirano, Yoshihito Tokita, Keiko Nakanishi, Fumiko Matsui, Sachiko Aono, Hiroshi Fujita, Yasuyuki Fujiwara, Toshiyuki Kaji and Atsuhiko Oohira: Identification and functions of chondroitin sulfate in the milieu of neural stem cells. J Biol Chem 281, 5982-5991 (2006)

69. Hidenori Tabata and Kazunori Nakajima: Multipolar migration: the third mode of radial neuronal migration in the developing cerebral cortex. J Neurosci 23, 9996-10001 (2003)

70. K Matsumoto, A Wanaka, K Takatsuji, H Muramatsu, T Muramatsu and M Tohyama: A novel family of heparinbinding growth factors, pleiotrophin and midkine, is expressed in the developing rat cerebral cortex. *Dev Brain Res* 79, 229-241 (1994)

71. Ralf S Schmid and ES Anton: Role of integrins in the development of the cerebral cortex. *Cereb Cortex* 13, 219-224 (2003)

72. Joji Iida, Alexandra ML Meijne, Theodore R Oegema, Ted A Yednock, Nicholas L Kovach, Leo T Furcht and James B McCarthy: A role of chondroitin sulfate glycosaminoglycan binding site in alpha<sub>4</sub>beta<sub>1</sub> integrin-mediated melanoma cell adhesion. *J Biol Chem* 273, 5955-5962 (1998)

73. Hisako Muramatsu, Peng Zou, Hiromichi Suzuki, Yoshihiro Oda, Guo-Yun Chen, Nahoko Sakaguchi, Sadatoshi Sakuma, Nobuaki Maeda, Masaharu Noda, Yoshikazu Takada and Takashi Muramatsu: alpha<sub>4</sub>beta<sub>1</sub>- and alpha<sub>6</sub>beta<sub>1</sub>-integrins are functional receptors for midkine, a heparin-binding growth factor. *J Cell Sci* 117, 5405-5415 (2004)

74. Constantinos Mikelis, Evanthia Sfaelou, Marina Koutsioumpa, Nelly Kieffer and Evangelia Papadimitriou: Integrin alpha, beta<sub>3</sub> is a pleiotrophin receptor required for pleiotrophin-induced endothelial cell migration through receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase beta/zeta. *FASEB J* 23, 1459-1469 (2009)

75. Nicholas K Tonks: Protein tyrosine phosphatases: from genes, to function, to disease. *Nat Rev Mol Cel Biol* 7, 833-846 (2006)

76. Masahide Fukada, Akihiro Fujikawa, Jeremy PH Chow, Shinya Ikematsu, Sadatoshi Sakuma and Masaharu Noda: Protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type Z is inactivated by ligand-induced oligomirization. *FEBS Lett* 580, 4051-4056 (2006)

77. Hiroyuki Kawachi, Akihiro Fujikawa, Nobuaki Maeda and Masaharu Noda: Identification of GIT1/Cat-1 as a substrate molecule of protein tyrosine phosphatase zeta/beta by the yeast substrate-trapping system. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98, 6593-6598 (2001)

78. Harold Priser, Laura Ezquerra, Gonzalo Herradon, Pablo Perez-Pinera and Thomas F Deuel: Fyn is a downstream target of the pleiotrophin/receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase beta/zeta-signaling pathway: regulation of tyrosine phosphorylation of Fyn by pleiotrophin. *Biochem Biophys Res Commn* 332, 664-669 (2005)

79. Harold Priser, Pablo Perez-Pinera, Laura Ezquerra, Gonzalo Herradon and Thomas F Deuel: Pleiotrophin stimulates tyrosine phosphorylation of beta-adducin through inactivation of the transmembrane receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase beta/zeta. *Biochem Biophys Res Commn* 335, 232-239 (2005)

80. Hiroshi Tamura, Masahide Fukada, Akihiro Fujikawa and Masaharu Noda: Protein tyrosine phosphatase type Z is

involved in hippocampus-dependent memory formation through dephosphorylation at Y1105 on p190RhoGAP. *Neurosci Lett* 399, 33-38 (2006)

81. Nobuna Fukazawa, Seisuke Yokoyama, Mototsugu Eiraku, Mineko Kengaku and Nobuaki Maeda: Receptor type protein tyrosine phosphatase zeta-pleiotrophin signaling controls endocytic trafficking of DNER that regulates neuritogenesis. *Mol Cell Biol* 28, 4494-4506 (2008)

82. Sabine Muller, Philip Kunkel, Katrin Lamszus, Ulrike Ulbricht, Gustavo Angel Lorente, April Michelle Nelson, David von Shack, Daniel J Chin, Scott Curtis Lohr, Manfred Westphal and Thorsten Melcher: A role for receptor tyrosine phosphatase zeta in glioma cell migration. *Oncogene* 22, 6661-6668 (2003)

83. Yumiko Shimazaki, Isao Nagata, Maki Ishii, Masahiko Tanaka, Tohru Marunouchi, Toshihiro Hata and Nobuaki Maeda: Developmental change and function of chondroitin sulfate deposited around cerebellar Purkinje cells. *J Neurosci Res* 82, 172-183 (2005)

84. Masahiko Tanaka, Nobuaki Maeda, Masaharu Noda and Tohru Marunouchi: A chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan PTPzeta/RPTPbeta regulates the morphogenesis of Purkinje cell dendrites in the developing cerebellum. *J Neurosci* 23, 2804-2814 (2003)

85. Nobuaki Maeda, Michio Niinobe, Yoshiro Inoue and Katsuhiko Mikoshiba: Developmental expression and intracellular location of  $P_{400}$  protein characteristic of Purkinje cells in the mouse cerebellum. *Dev Biol* 133, 67-76 (1989)

86. Mototsugu Eiraku, Yutaka Hirata, Hiroshi Takeshima, Tmoo Hirano and Mineko Kengaku: Delta/Notch-like epidermal growth factor (EGF)-related receptor, a novel EGF-like repeat-containing protein targeted to dendrites of developing and adult central nervous system neurons. *J Biol Chem* 277, 25400-25407 (2002)

87. Mototsugu Eiraku, Akira Tohgo, Katsuhiko Ono, Megumi Kaneko, Kazuto Fujishima, Tomoo Hirano and Mineko Kengaku: DNER acts as a neuron-specific Notch ligand during Bergmann glial development. *Nat Neurosci* 8, 873-880 (2005)

88. Marco R Celio, Roberto Spreafico, Silvia De Biasi and Laura Vitellaro-Zuccarello: Perineuronal nets: past and present. *Trends Neurosci* 21, 510-515 (1998)

89. Shinobu C Fujita, Yukako Tada, Fujio Murakami, Motoharu Hayashi and Michikazu Matsumura: Glycosaminoglycan-related epitopes surrounding different subsets of mammalian central neurons. *Neurosci Res* 7, 117-130 (1989)

90. Cynthia Lander, Peter Kind, Michael Maleski and Susan Hockfield: A family of activity-dependent neuronal cell-surface chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans in cat visual cortex. *J Neurosci* 17, 1928-1939 (1997)

91. Sarama Sathyaseelan Deepa, Daniela Carulli, Clare Galtrey, Kate Rhodes, Junko Fukuda, Tadahisa Mikami, Kazuyuki Sugahara and James W Fawcett: Composition of perineuronal net extracellular matrix in rat brain. *J Biol Chem* 281, 17789-17800 (2006)

92. Philipp Weber, Udo Bartsch, Matthew N Rasband, Reiner Czaniera, Yolande Lang, Horst Bluethmann, Richard U Margolis, S Rock Levinson, Peter Shrager, Dirk Montag and Melitta Schachner: Mice deficient for tenascin-R display alterations of the extracellular matrix and decreased axonal conduction velocities in the CNS. *J Neurosci* 19, 4245-4262 (1999)

93. Shin-ichiro Sano, Junko Kudo and Shinobu C Fujita: Different subsets of CNS neurons express different glycosaminoglycan epitopes on large perineuronal proteoglycans. *Brain Res* 630, 65-74 (1993)

94. Russell T Matthews, Gail M Kelly, Cynthia A Zerillo, Grace Gray, Michael Tiemeyer and Susan Hockfield: Aggrecan glycoforms contribute to the molecular heterogeneity of perineuronal nets. *J Neurosci* 22, 7536-7547 (2002)

95. Davide Vigetti, Olga Andrini, Moira Clerici, Daniela Negrini, Alberto Passi and Andrea Moriondo: Chondroitin sulfates act as extracellular gating modifiers on voltage-dependent ion channels. *Cell Phisiol Biochem* 22, 137-146 (2008)

96. Cynthia Lander, Hong Zhang and Susan Hockfield: Neurons produce a neuronal cell surface-associated chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan. *J Neurosci* 18, 174-183 (1998)

97. MR Dino, S Harroch, S Hockfield and RT Matthews: Monoclonal antibody Cat-315 detects a glycoform of receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase beta/phosphacan early in CNS development that localizes to extrasynaptic sites prior to synapse formation. *Neuroscience* 142, 1055-1069 (2006)

98. Tamao Endo: Structure, function and pathology of *O*-mannosyl glycans. *Glycoconj J* 21, 3-7 (2004)

99. Wengang Chai, Chun-Ting Yuen, Heide Kogelberg, Robert A Carrutheurs, Richard U Margolis, Ten Feizi and Alexander M Lawson: High prevalence of 2-mono- and 2,6-disubstituted Manol-terminating sequences among O-glycans released from brain glycopeptides by reductive alkaline hydrolysis. *Eur J Biochem* 263, 879-888 (1999)

100. Ippei Morita, Yasuhiko Kizuka, Shinako Kakuda and Shogo Oka: Expression and function of the HNK-1 carbohydrate. *J Biochem* 143, 719-724 (2008)

101. Nobuaki Maeda, Fumiko Matsui and Atsuhiko Oohira: A chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan that is developmentally regulated in the cerebellar mossy fiber system. *Dev Biol* 151, 564-574 (1992)

102. Yuko Saitoh, Fumiko Matsui, Yoichi Chiba, Noriko Kawamura, Hiromi Keino, Mamoru Satoh, Naoko Kumagai, Sanae Ishii, Keisuke Yoshikawa, Atsuyoshi Shimada, Nobuaki Maeda, Atsuhiko Oohira and Masanori Hosokawa: Reduced

expression of MAb 6B4 epitopes on chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan aggrecan in perineuronal nets from cerebral cortices of SAMP10 mice: a model for age-dependent neurodegeneration. *J Neurosci Res* 86, 1316-1323 (2008)

103. Daniel Beltran-Valero de Bernabe, Sophie Currier, Alice Steinbrecher, Jacopo Celli, Ellen van Beusekom, Bert van der Zwaag, Hulya Kayserili, Luciano Merlini, David Chitayat, William B Dobyns, Bru Cormand, Ana-Elina Lehesjoki, Jesus Cruces, Thomas Voit, Christopher A Walsh, Hans van Bokhoven and Han G Brunner: Mutations in the Omannosyltransferase gene POMT1 give rise to the severe neuronal migration disorder Walker-Warburg syndrome. *Am J Hum Genet* 71, 1033-1043 (2002)

104. Aruto Yoshida, Kazuhiro Kobayashi, Hiroshi Manya, Kiyomi Taniguchi, Hiroki Kano, Mamoru Mizuno, Toshiyuki Inazu, Hideyo Mitsuhashi, Seiichiro Takahashi, Makoto Takeuchi, Ralf Herrmann, Volker Straub, Beril Talim, Thomas Voit, Haluk Topaloglu, Tatsushi Toda and Tamao Endo: Muscular dystrophy and neuronal migration disorder caused by mutations in a glycosyltransferase, POMGnT1. *Dev Cell* 1, 717-724 (2001)

105. Karen L Abbott, Russell T Matthews and Michael Pierce: Receptor tyrosine phosphatase beta (RPTPbeta) activity and signaling are attenuated by glycosylation and subsequent cell surface galectin-1 binding. *J Biol Chem* 283, 33026-33035 (2008)

106. Alexander Dityatev, Gert Bruckner, Galina Dityateva, Jens Grosche, Ralf Kleene and Melitta Schachner: Activity-dependent formation and functions of chondroitin sulfate-rich extracellular matrix of perineuronal nets. *Neurobiol* 67, 570-588 (2007)

107. Tommaso Pizzorusso, Paolp Medini, Nicoletta Berardi, Sabrina Chierzi, James W Fawcett and Lamberto Maffei: Reactivation of ocular dominance plasticity in the adult visual cortex. *Science* 298, 1248-1251.

108. Sayaka Sugiyama, Alain Prochiantz and Takao K Hensch: From brain formation to plasticity: insights on Otx2 homeoprotein. *Develop Growth Differ* 51, 369-377 (2009)

109. Aurea Guimaraes, Sam Zaremba and Susan Hockfield: Molecular and morphological changes in the cat lateral geniculate nucleus and visual cortex induced by visual deprivation are revealed by monoclonal antibodies Cat-304 and Cat-301. *J Neurosci.* 10, 3014-3024 (1990)

110. Damaso Crespo, Richard A Asher, Rachel Lin, Kate E Rhodes and James W Fawcett: How does chondroitinase promote functional recovery in the damaged CNS? *Exp Neurol* 206, 159-171 (2007)

111. Takao K Hensch, Michela Fagiolini, Nobuko Mataga, Michael P Stryker, Steinunn Baekkeskov and Shera F Kash: Local GABA circuit control of experience-dependent plasticity in developing visual cortex. *Science* 282, 1504-1508 (1998)

112. Sayaka Sugiyama, Ariel A Di Nardo, Shinichi Aizawa, Isao Matsuo, Michel Volovitch, Alain Prochiantz and Takao K Hensch: Experience-dependent transfer of Otx2 homeoprotein into visual cortex activates postnatal plasticity. *Cell* 134, 508-520 (2008)

113. Lawrence DF Moon, Richard A Asher, Kate E Rhodes and James W Fawcett: Regeneration of CNS axons back to their target following treatment of adult rat brain with chondroitinase ABC. *Nat Neurosci* 4, 465-466 (2001)

114. Elizabeth J Bradbury, Lawrence DF Moon, Reena J Popat, Von R King, Gavin S Bennett, Preena N Patel, James W Fawcett and Stephen B McMahon: Chondroitinase ABC promotes functional recovery after spinal cord injury. *Nature* 416, 636-640 (2002)

115. Asya Rolls, Hila Avidan, Liora Cahalon, Hadas Schori, Sharon Bakalash, Vladimir Litvak, Sima Lev, Ofer Lider and Michal Schwartz: A disaccharide derived from chondroitin sulphate proteoglycan promotes central nervous system repair in rats and mice. *Eur J Neurosci* 20, 1973-1983 (2004)

116. Hong-Peng Li, Akiko Homma, Kazunori Sango, Koki Kawamura, Geoffrey Raisman and Hitoshi Kawano: Regeneration of nigrostriatal dopaminergic axons by degradation of chondroitin sulfate is accompanied by elimination of the fibrotic scar and glia limitans in the lesion site. *J Neurosci Res* 85, 536-547 (2006)

117. Lucy M Carter, Michelle L Starkey, Sonia F Akrimi, Meirion Davies, Stephen B McMahon and Elizabeth J Bradbury: The yellow fluorescent protein (YFP-H) mouse reveals neuroprotection as a novel mechanism underlying chondroitinase ABC-mediated repair after spinal cord injury. J Neurosci 28, 14107-14120 (2008)

Abbreviations: ALK: anaplastic lymphoma kinase, CS: chondroitin sulfate, C4-ST: chondroitin 4-O-sulfotransferase, C6-ST: chondroitin 6-O-sulfotransferase, C5-EP: chondroitinglucuronate C5 epimerase, CP: cortical plate, D4-ST: dermatan 4-O-sulfotransferase, DNER: Delta/Notch-like epidermal growth factor-related receptor, DS: dermatan sulfate, E: embryonic day, EGF: epidermal growth factor, Gal: galactose, A unit: GlcAbeta1-3GalNAc(4S), B unit: GlcA(2S)beta1-3GalNAc(4S), С GlcAbeta1unit: 3GalNAc(6S), D unit: GlcA(2S)beta1-3GalNAc(6S), E unit: GlcAbeta1-3GalNAc(4, 6-diS), T unit: GlcA(2S)beta1-3GalNAc(4,6-diS), O unit: GlcAbeta1-3GalNAc, GlcA: glucuronic acid. HS: heparan sulfate. IdoA: iduronic acid. iA unit: IdoAalpha1-3GalNAc(4S), iB unit: IdoA(2S)alpha1-3GalNAc(4S), iD unit: IdoA(2S)alpha1-3GalNAc(6S), iE unit: IdoAalpha1-3GalNAc(4,6-diS), unit: IdoAalpha1iO 3GalNAc, IZ: intermediate zone, KS: keratan sulfate, LGN: lateral geniculate nucleus, Man: mannose, MCSP: melanoma chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan, MD: monocular deprivation, N-acetylgalactosamine, GalNAc: GlcNAc:  $N_{-}$ acetylglucosamine, 4,6-ST: N-acetylgalactosamine 4-sulfate 6-O-sulfotransferase, P: postnatal day, PTP: protein tyrosine phosphatase, ROS: reactive oxygen species, S: sulfate, shRNA: short hairpin RNA, SZ: subventricular zone, UST: uronyl 2-O-sulfotransferase, VZ: ventricular zone.

**Key Words:** Chondroitin sulfate, MAb6B4, Neural plasticity, Neuronal migration, Perineuronal net, pleiotrophin, Proteoglycan, Purkinje cell, Receptor-type protein tyrosine phosphatase zeta, Review

Send correspondence to: Nobuaki Maeda, Department of Developmental Neuroscience, Tokyo Metropolitan Institute for Neuroscience, 2-6 Musashidai, Fuchu, Tokyo 183-8526, Japan, Tel: 81-42-325-3881, Fax: 81-42-321-8678, E-mail: maeda-nb@igakuken.or.jp

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol15.htm